

# **BLUE FOLDER ITEM**

*Blue folder items are additional back up material to administrative reports and/or public comments received after the printing and distribution of the agenda packet for receive and file.*

## **CITY COUNCIL MEETING September 21, 2021**

### **P.3. DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION REGARDING AMENDMENTS TO REDONDO BEACH MUNICIPAL CODE SECTION 10-3.901 CEQA APPEAL REQUIREMENTS AND PROCEDURES**

**INTRODUCE BY TITLE ONLY ORDINANCE NO. 3217-21, AN  
ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF  
REDONDO BEACH, CALIFORNIA, AMENDING MUNICIPAL  
CODE TITLE 10, CHAPTER 3, ARTICLE 9, SECTION 10-3.901  
CEQA APPEAL REQUIREMENTS AND PROCEDURES, FOR  
INTRODUCTION AND FIRST READING**

**DISCUSSION AND DIRECTION TO STAFF REGARDING THE  
FEE TO APPEAL A PLANNING COMMISSION DECISION**

**CONTACT:**

**MICHAEL W. WEBB, CITY ATTORNEY**

**BRANDY FORBES, COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR**

**ELEANOR MANZANO, CITY CLERK**

**CHERYL PARK, ASSISTANT CITY ATTORNEY**

Attached are the following documents:

- Comparison document - compares the current CEQA ordinance compared to the changes of staff
- Comparison document - compares the current CEQA appeal ordinance with the changes suggested by Councilmember Nehrenheim

## Comparison document - compares the current CEQA ordinance to the changes of staff

### 10-3.901 CEQA appeal requirements and procedures.

~~(a)~~ **“CEQA appeal”** shall mean an appeal to the City Council from a non-elected decision-making body’s or a non-elected decision-maker’s decision approving, certifying, denying approval, or denying certification of an environmental impact report (“EIR”), a negative declaration (“ND”) or mitigated negative declaration (“MND”), a determination that a project is exempt from CEQA pursuant to a statutory or categorical exemption, a subsequent or supplemental EIR, ND, or MND, addenda to a previously prepared CEQA document, master EIRs, focused EIRs, joint CEQA and NEPA documents, CEQA findings, CEQA statements of overriding considerations, or CEQA mitigation monitoring and reporting programs (collectively referenced as “CEQA documents” in this section). Each and every party wishing to challenge the approval of a CEQA document must file a separate CEQA appeal in compliance with this section. The appellants identified in subsections (a)(1) through (a)(3) of this section may file a CEQA appeal:

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0.25"

(1) Any person may appeal to the City Council the decision of either a non-elected decision-making body or a non-elected decision-maker approving or certifying (“approving” or “approval”) a CEQA document; provided, however, that the person must have objected to the approval or certification of the project’s CEQA document orally or in writing ~~during prior to the close of~~ either the public comment period provided with respect to the project pursuant to CEQA, or ~~prior to the close of~~ the final public hearing on which the CEQA document was acted upon by the non-elected decision-making body or ~~the non-elected decision-maker; individual~~. If no public hearing or other opportunity was provided to members of the public to raise objections, either orally or in writing, prior to the approval of the CEQA document, then the “objection” requirement of this subsection shall not apply. An appeal filed pursuant to this subsection shall not relieve any third party from filing their own CEQA appeal.

(2) Any project applicant may appeal to the City Council the decision of a non-elected decision-making body or a non-elected decision-maker denying the approval or certification (“denying” or “denial”) of a CEQA document for their project. An appeal filed pursuant to this subsection shall not relieve any third party from filing their own CEQA appeal.

(3) The Mayor or any member of the City Council may appeal on their own behalf any decision of a non-elected decision-making body or a non-elected decision-maker approving or denying certification of a CEQA document without fulfilling the requirements of subsection (a)(1), (a)(2), or (c) of this section; provided, however, that the City Council member or Mayor requesting the appeal shall disqualify him or herself from hearing the appeal unless he or she can certify in writing that he or she has no predisposition against or in favor of the project. An appeal filed pursuant to this subsection shall not relieve any third party from filing their own CEQA appeal.

(b) **Time to file an appeal.** Unless otherwise mandated by State law, an appeal of the approval or denial of a CEQA document by a non-elected decision-making body or a non-elected decision-maker shall be filed by the appellant and received by the City by 5:00 p.m. of the thirtieth (30) calendar day following the decision on the CEQA document (or the next working day if the thirtieth (30) calendar day falls on a weekend, holiday, or a day the City's offices are closed). In computing thirty (30) calendar days, the day the non-elected City Body acts on the CEQA document shall be excluded. To appeal a CEQA exemption certification, the appeal shall be filed by the appellant and received by the City by 5:00 p.m. of the tenth (10th) calendar day following the decision on the CEQA document (or the next working day if the tenth (10th) calendar day falls on a weekend, holiday, or a day the City's offices are closed). In computing ten (10) calendar days, the day the non-elected City Body acts on the CEQA document shall be excluded.

For purposes of determining whether a CEQA appeal has been timely filed, the appeal will be deemed filed on the date upon which the CEQA appeal has been filed and received by the City Clerk, provided that the CEQA appeal complies with all the requirements set forth in this section, including, but not limited to, payment of the filing fee if any and fulfilling all the content requirements for a CEQA appeal. An appeal that is not timely or where the appellant fails to comply with all their requirements contained in this section, shall not be heard by City Council. City Clerk has received the individual's or group's appeal by email, letter or other form of written communication.

The City Clerk must notify the appellant what portion of the appeal is incomplete or invalid. If an appeal is filed and deemed incomplete or invalid, the appellant shall have two (2) calendar days to resubmit after notification (or the next City Hall working day if the second (2nd) calendar day falls on a weekend, holiday, or a day when the City's offices are closed). The time to cure the application applies notwithstanding the expiration of the appeal period. An appeal resubmitted within the foregoing cure period shall be deemed timely..

(c) **Filing fee.** The appellant shall pay a filing fee as set by resolution or ordinance, if any, to the office of the City Clerk, which shall also be submitted concurrently with the CEQA appeal be paid within five (10) calendar days of the City Clerk notifying the appellant of the completeness and timely filing of the appeal (or the next City Hall working day if the tenth (10) calendar day falls on a weekend, holiday, or a day when the City's offices are closed).. If the appeal is granted, the appellant(s) is (are) to be refunded their filing fee within sixty (60) days.

~~(d)~~

(d) **Place to file.** The CEQA appeal and supporting documents must be filed ~~in~~ with the office of the City Clerk. ~~The appellant shall also notify the project applicant identified in the CEQA document of the CEQA appeal by mailing the applicant a Hard copy of the materials identified in subsection (e) by certified mail. Notification for the applicant or electronic submission is acceptable to meet this requirement. Electronic submission must have been be e-mailed by the tenth (10th) calendar day following the decision on the CEQA document. The appellant shall provide the City~~

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: a, b, c ... + Start at: 4 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25" + Indent at: 0.5"

~~with a copy of the certified mail directly to the City Clerk. Upon receipt at least seven (7) calendar days before the hearing on the CEQA appeal. Failure to timely mail the notification to the applicant shall be grounds for dismissal of the appeal of a CEQA appeal electronically, the City Clerk shall acknowledge receipt via response email to the appellant or appellants.~~

(e) **Content requirements for a CEQA appeal.** All CEQA appeals shall be in writing and shall contain the following information:

(1) ~~A cover sheet that:~~

- ~~a. Identifies reference to the filing as a CEQA appeal pursuant to this section.~~
- ~~b. Identifies the non-elected specific decision-making body or non-elected decision-maker that made the decision on the CEQA document being appealed.~~
- ~~c. Identifies the CEQA document which is the subject of appellant's CEQA appeal and the date on which the non-elected decision-making body or non-elected decision-maker made the decision on the CEQA document.~~
- ~~d. If appellant has filed a concurrent appeal, then the cover sheet shall also include the information described in subsection (k).~~

(2) The name, mailing address, email address, and telephone number of the person filing the CEQA appeal. The names of individuals or groups who wish to support the appeal may also be included.

(3) All grounds and issues for the CEQA appeal, specifying in detail why the appellant contends that the decision on the CEQA document does not comply with CEQA, and ~~the any~~ supporting documentation. General environmental concerns without reference to the CEQA document or the non-elected decision-making body's actions shall not fulfill the requirements of this subsection. ~~Where the appellant has submitted comments and the City has prepared responses, the appellant may not attach or incorporate by reference their past comments to fulfill the requirements of this subsection, and must identify their specific outstanding allegations related to the CEQA document. If new information that could not have reasonably been known to the public is discovered prior to the appeal hearing, the new information may be presented and shall be considered by the City Council in its appeal decision.~~

(4) If appellant has filed a concurrent appeal, then the appeal shall also include the information described in subsection (k).

(f) **Hearing.** City Clerk shall schedule the hearing within ten (10) calendar days after the filing of the appeal. Before the City Council acts on the CEQA appeal, a hearing on the matter shall be held in a timely fashion; but in no event sooner than sixty (60) days following the decision on the CEQA document. However, such a hearing may be continued from time to time upon consent of the project applicant whose project is subject to the CEQA appeal. City Council shall conduct a de novo review of the decision on the CEQA document.

(g) **Notice of hearing on a CEQA appeal.**

Formatted: Font: Bold

(1) The City Clerk shall provide notice of the hearing to the appellant and the project applicant at least fourteen (14) calendar days ~~before~~after the hearing~~filing of the appeal.~~ Notice may be provided using any method reasonably calculated to provide notice to the appellant and the project applicant, including, but not limited to, mailing (posted marked ~~at least fourteen (14) calendar days before the hearing~~), email, or telephone. Notice may be combined with other notices related to the same project. In the event of a continuance or adjournment, no additional noticing is required pursuant to this subsection. Failure of the City to comply with subsections (g)(1) or (g)(2) shall not constitute grounds for invalidating any action on a CEQA appeal unless the error was prejudicial and the party complaining suffered substantial injury from that error and that a different result would have been probable if the error had not occurred. The City shall also provide notice by any one of the following methods:

a. By publication at least once in a ~~weekly~~ newspaper of general circulation in the City not less than ten (10) calendar days prior to the date of the hearing;

b. By mailing a written notice thereof, not less than ten (10) days prior to the date of such hearing to the applicant, to the owner of the subject property and to the owners of properties within 300 feet of the exterior boundary of the subject property or properties; such notices shall be sent by first class mail, with postage prepaid, using the addresses from the last adopted tax roll, if available;

c. By posting such notice not less than ten (10) days prior to the date of such hearing to the applicant in at least one prominent place on or about each parcel which is the subject of the proposed action, or upon utility poles or sticks along or about the street line of such parcel. In the event more than one parcel is the subject of such hearing, and such parcels comprise 200 or more feet of street frontage, at least one such notice shall be posted on or about the street line at intervals of not less than 200 feet, starting at either end of the subject properties where the property line intersects the street line; or

\_\_\_\_\_d. In the case of amendments to the text provisions of Title 10, and/or projects not dealing with any specific parcel of land, notification shall be by the method set out in subsection (g)(1)(a) of this section only.

\_\_\_\_\_ (h) **Exhaustion requirement.** All of the appellant's grounds or issues for the CEQA appeal must have been: (1) listed in the contents of the CEQA appeal described in subsection (e); and (2) presented to the non-elected decision-making body or the non-elected decision-maker orally or in writing by the appellant or another person during the public comment period provided by CEQA, or prior to the close of the public hearing on the project approval by the non-elected decision-making body or the non-elected decision-maker ("exhaustion requirement"). The failure to comply with this exhaustion requirement shall be grounds for denial of those portions of the CEQA appeal which were not exhausted. The exhaustion requirement contained in subsection (2) of this paragraph shall not apply where there was no public hearing or other opportunity for the appellant to raise objections to the project's CEQA document. The limits contained in this subsection shall not apply to documents prepared by the City. Where a City Councilmember or the Mayor has filed a CEQA appeal pursuant to subsection (a)(3), the limitations of subsections (h)(1) and (h)(2) shall apply to them individually as appellant, but not to the City as a whole.

\_\_\_\_\_ (i) **Appellant's time to file additional documentation.** Any additional documents submitted by the appellant, ~~such as other than hearing~~ presentations, must be filed with the City Clerk ~~no later than seven (7) calendar fourteen (14) days prior to the date set for the hearing by the City Council. Any additional documentation submitted under this subsection must also fulfill the exhaustion requirements contained in subsection (h). The appellant shall also notify the project applicant identified in the CEQA document of any additional documentation by mailing the applicant a copy of the additional documentation by certified mail no later than seven (7) calendar days prior to the date set for the appeal hearing by the City Council. The appellant shall provide the City a copy of the certified mail receipt. This deadline does not apply to new information that could not have reasonably been known to the public that is discovered as set forth in section e(3) above. The new information may be presented at the hearing on the CEQA appeal. Any additional documentation which fails to comply with this subsection shall not and shall be considered by the City Council. The appellants may not rely upon additional documentation submitted by a third party unless it fulfills all the requirements of subsections (h) and (i) in its appeal decision.~~

— ~~The limits contained in this subsection shall not apply to documents prepared by the City, except where a Councilmember or the Mayor has filed an appeal pursuant to subsection (a)(3), in which case the limitations of this subsection shall apply to them individually as the appellants, but not the City as a whole.~~

\_\_\_\_\_ Any hearing presentations must be transmitted to the City Clerk for inclusion in the public record by 5:00 p.m. on the calendar day immediately prior to the appeal hearing.

City staff presentations and supporting documents offered to the City Council for consideration during the appeal hearing shall be published at the time the agenda is posted for the appeal hearing and on the City website linked to the agenda item for the appeal hearing. The appellant(s) shall be notified of documents.

(j) **Preemption of other appeal procedures.** The appeal procedures of this section preempt all other appeal procedures in the City's Municipal Code for the purposes of a CEQA appeal. This includes, but is not limited to, the appeal procedures contained in Title 1, Chapter 4, and Section 2-9.712 of Title 2, Chapter 9, Article 7.

(k) **Concurrent appeals.** "Concurrent appeal" is defined as an appeal not based upon compliance with CEQA, but related to the same project. Such appeals may include, but are not limited to, the appeal of a Conditional Use Permit, the appeal of Planning Commission Design Review, or the appeal of other land use entitlements. Where the appellant has filed a concurrent appeal, the City Council shall consider the appeals concurrently at the same public hearing. An appeal pursuant to this section challenging a decision approving or denying a CEQA document, shall not constitute an appeal for any other actions taken by the non-elected decision-making body or the non-elected decision-maker unless:

~~(1)~~

(1) The "contents of the CEQA appeal" (described in subsection (e) of this section) specifies: (A) the other section of the Municipal Code or State law authorizing a concurrent appeal, and (B) the other action taken by the non-elected decision-making body or non-elected decision-maker which is contested by the appellant. An attachment of the concurrent appeal shall suffice; and

~~(2)~~

(2) The appellant fulfills all other non-CEQA appeal requirements of the Municipal Code or State law, including, but not limited to, payment of appeal fees for the concurrent appeal, in addition to the requirements contained in this section.

(l) **Effect of a CEQA appeal.** The filing of a CEQA appeal will stay the effect of all of the following until the City Council renders a decision on the CEQA appeal: (1) the CEQA document; (2) any project approval made pursuant to the CEQA document; (3) any notice of determination; and (4) Section 10-3.104 of Title 10, Chapter 3, Article 1. This subsection is only applicable to the party that was specifically named as the appellant in the ~~cover sheet~~ appeal specified in subsection (e)(2) of this section. This subsection shall not apply to any third party who has not filed their own CEQA appeal. (§ 12, Ord. 3125 c.s., eff. January 16, 2015)

~~(§ 12, Ord. 3125 c.s., eff. January 16, 2015)~~

~~(a)~~

10-3.901 CEQA appeal requirements and procedures.

- (a) **"CEQA appeal"** shall mean an appeal to the City Council from a non-elected decision-making body's or a non-elected decision-maker's decision approving, certifying, denying approval, or denying certification of an environmental impact report ("EIR"), a negative declaration ("ND") or mitigated negative declaration ("MND"), a determination that a project is exempt from CEQA pursuant to a statutory or categorical exemption, a subsequent or supplemental EIR, ND, or MND, addenda to a previously prepared CEQA document, master EIRs, focused EIRs, joint CEQA and NEPA documents, CEQA findings, CEQA statements of overriding considerations, or CEQA mitigation monitoring and reporting programs (collectively referenced as "CEQA documents" in this section). ~~Each and every party wishing to challenge the approval of a CEQA document must file a separate CEQA appeal in compliance with this section.~~ The appellants identified in subsections (a)(1) through (a)(3) of this section may file a CEQA appeal:

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: a, b, c, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25" + Indent at: 0.56"

(1) Any person may appeal to the City Council the decision of either a non-elected decision-making body or a non-elected decision-maker approving or certifying ("approving" or "approval") a CEQA document; provided, however, that the appellant or any other person must have objected to the approval or certification of the project's CEQA document orally or in writing ~~during either the public comment period provided with respect to the project pursuant to CEQA, or~~ prior to the close of the final public hearing on which the CEQA document was acted upon by the non-elected decision-making body ~~or the non-elected decision-maker, individual.~~ If no public hearing or other opportunity was provided to members of the public to raise objections, either orally or in writing, prior to the approval of the CEQA document, then the "objection" requirement of this subsection shall not apply. ~~An appeal filed pursuant to this subsection shall not relieve any third party from filing their own CEQA appeal.~~

~~(2)~~

Any project applicant may appeal to the City Council the decision of a non-elected decision-making body or a non-elected decision-maker denying the approval or certification ("denying" or "denial") of a CEQA document for their project. ~~An appeal filed pursuant to this subsection shall not relieve any third party from filing their own CEQA appeal.~~

(2) The term "person" as used in this section shall mean and include without limitation any natural person, association, city, county, joint powers authority, special district or an agency thereof, state agency, federal agency, public corporation, private corporation (nonprofit or for profit), limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, utility, and any other organization.

(3) The Mayor or any member of the City Council may appeal on their own behalf any decision of a non-elected decision-making body or a non-elected decision-maker approving or denying

certification of a CEQA document without fulfilling the requirements of subsection (a)(1), (a)(2), or (c) of this section; provided, however, that the City Council member or Mayor requesting the appeal shall disqualify him or herself from hearing the appeal unless he or she can certify in writing that he or she has no predisposition against or in favor of the project. ~~An appeal filed pursuant to this subsection shall not relieve any third party from filing their own CEQA appeal.~~

—

(b) Time to file an appeal. Unless otherwise mandated by State law, an appeal of the approval or denial of a CEQA document by a non-elected decision-making body or a non-elected decision-maker shall be filed by the appellant and received by the City by 5:00 p.m. of the thirtieth (30) calendar day following the decision on the CEQA document (or the next working day if the thirtieth (30) calendar day falls on a weekend, holiday, or a day the City's offices are closed). In computing thirty (30) calendar days, the day the non-elected City Body acts on the CEQA document shall be excluded. To appeal a CEQA exemption certification, the appeal shall be filed by the appellant and received by the City by 5:00 p.m. of the tenth (10th) calendar day following the decision on the CEQA document (or the next working day if the tenth (10th) calendar day falls on a weekend, holiday, or a day the City's offices are closed). In computing ten (10) calendar days, the day the non-elected City Body acts on the CEQA document shall be excluded.

—

For purposes of determining whether a CEQA appeal has been timely filed, the appeal will be deemed filed on the date upon which the CEQA appeal has been filed and received by the City Clerk, provided that the CEQA appeal complies with all the requirements set forth in this section, including, but not limited to, payment of the filing fee if any and fulfilling all the content requirements for a CEQA appeal. An appeal that is not timely or where the appellant fails to comply with all their requirements contained in this section, shall not be heard by City Council. City Clerk has received the individual's or group's appeal by email, letter or other form of written communication.

The City Clerk must notify the appellant upon receipt of any complete and timely appeal, or else what portion of the appeal is incomplete or if the appeal is untimely. If a filed appeal is deemed incomplete. The City Clerk shall notify the appellant of the reasons for the determination of incompleteness. The appellant shall have two (2) business days to resubmit after notification. The time to cure the application applies notwithstanding the expiration of the appeal period. An appeal resubmitted within the foregoing cure period shall be deemed timely. The City Council shall have the sole power to resolve disputes over the completeness or validity of an appeal.

(c) Filing fee. The appellant shall pay a filing fee as set by resolution or ordinance, if any, to the office of the City Clerk, which shall also be submitted concurrently with the CEQA appeal, be paid within five (5) business days of the City Clerk notifying the appellant of the completeness and timely filing of

the appeal. If the appeal is granted, the appellant(s) is (are) to be refunded their filing fee within sixty (60) days.

~~—(d)—~~

(d) Place to file. The CEQA appeal and supporting documents must be filed ~~in with~~ the office of the City Clerk. The appellant shall also notify the project applicant identified in the CEQA document of the CEQA appeal by mailing the applicant a Hard copy of the materials identified in subsection (e) by certified mail. Notification for the applicant or electronic submission is acceptable to meet this requirement. Electronic submission ~~must have been be e-mailed by the tenth (10th)~~ calendar day following the decision on the CEQA document. The appellant shall provide the City with a copy of the certified mail directly to the City Clerk. Upon receipt at least seven (7) calendar days before the hearing on the CEQA appeal. Failure to timely mail the notification to the applicant shall be grounds for dismissal of the appeal of a CEQA appeal electronically, the City Clerk shall acknowledge receipt via response email to the appellant or appellants.

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: a, b, c, ... + Start at: 4 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25" + Indent at: 0.5"

**(e) Content requirements for a CEQA appeal.** All CEQA appeals shall be in writing and shall contain the following information:

(1) A cover sheet that:

- ~~\_\_\_\_\_ a. \_\_\_\_\_~~ Identifies reference to the filing as a CEQA appeal pursuant to this section.
- ~~\_\_\_\_\_ b. \_\_\_\_\_~~ Identifies the non-elected specific decision-making body or non-elected decision-maker that made the decision on the CEQA document being appealed.
- ~~\_\_\_\_\_ c. \_\_\_\_\_~~ Identifies the CEQA document which is the subject of appellant's CEQA appeal and the date on which the non-elected decision-making body or non-elected decision-maker made the decision on the CEQA document.
- ~~\_\_\_\_\_ d. \_\_\_\_\_~~ If appellant has filed a concurrent appeal, then the cover sheet shall also include the information described in subsection (k).

(2) The name, mailing address, email address, and telephone number of the person filing the CEQA appeal. The names of individuals or groups who wish to support the appeal may also be included.

(3) All grounds and issues for the CEQA appeal, specifying in detail why the appellant contends that the decision on the CEQA document does not comply with CEQA, and ~~the any~~ supporting documentation. General environmental concerns without reference to the CEQA document or the non-elected decision-making body's actions shall not fulfill the requirements of this subsection. ~~Where the appellant has submitted comments and the City has prepared responses, the appellant may not attach or incorporate by reference their past comments to fulfill the requirements of this subsection, and must~~

~~identify their specific outstanding allegations related to the CEQA document. If new information that could not have reasonably been known to the public is discovered prior to the appeal hearing, the new information may be presented and shall be considered by the City Council in its appeal decision.~~

(4) If appellant has filed a concurrent appeal, then the appeal shall also include the information described in subsection (k).

(f) **Hearing.** Before the City Council acts on the CEQA appeal, a hearing on the matter shall be held in a timely fashion ~~but in no event sooner than sixty (60) days following the decision on the CEQA document.~~ However, such a hearing may be continued from time to time upon consent of the project applicant whose project is subject to the CEQA appeal. City Council shall conduct a de novo review of the decision on the CEQA document.

(g) **Notice of hearing on a CEQA appeal.**

Formatted: Font: Bold

(1) The City Clerk shall provide notice of the hearing to the appellant and the project applicant at least fourteen (14) calendar days ~~before~~ after the hearing filing of the appeal. Notice may be provided using any method reasonably calculated to provide notice to the appellant and the project applicant, including, but not limited to, mailing (posted marked ~~at least fourteen (14) calendar days before the hearing,~~), email, or telephone. Notice may be combined with other notices related to the same project. In the event of a continuance or adjournment, no additional noticing is required pursuant to this subsection. Failure of the City to comply with subsections (g)(1) or (g)(2) shall not constitute grounds for invalidating any action on a CEQA appeal unless the error was prejudicial and the party complaining suffered substantial injury from that error and that a different result would have been probable if the error had not occurred. The City shall also provide notice by any one of the following methods:

a. By publication at least once in a ~~weekly~~ newspaper of general circulation in the City not less than ten (10) calendar days prior to the date of the hearing;

b. By mailing a written notice thereof, not less than ten (10) days prior to the date of such hearing to the applicant, to the owner of the subject property and to the owners of properties within 300 feet of the exterior boundary of the subject property or properties; such notices shall be sent by first class mail, with postage prepaid, using the addresses from the last adopted tax roll, if available;

c. By posting such notice not less than ten (10) days prior to the date of such hearing to the applicant in at least one prominent place on or about each parcel which is the subject of

the proposed action, or upon utility poles or sticks along or about the street line of such parcel. In the event more than one parcel is the subject of such hearing, and such parcels comprise 200 or more feet of street frontage, at least one such notice shall be posted on or about the street line at intervals of not less than 200 feet, starting at either end of the subject properties where the property line intersects the street line; or

\_\_\_\_\_d. In the case of amendments to the text provisions of Title 10, and/or projects not dealing with any specific parcel of land, notification shall be by the method set out in subsection (g)(1)(a) of this section only.

~~—(h) Exhaustion requirement. All of the appellant's grounds or issues for the CEQA appeal must have been: (1) listed in the contents of the CEQA appeal described in subsection (e); and (2) presented to the non-elected decision-making body or the non-elected decision-maker orally or in writing by the appellant or another person during the public comment period provided by CEQA, or prior to the close of the public hearing on the project approval by the non-elected decision-making body or the non-elected decision-maker ("exhaustion requirement"). The failure to comply with this exhaustion requirement shall be grounds for denial of those portions of the CEQA appeal which were not exhausted. The exhaustion requirement contained in subsection (2) of this paragraph shall not apply where there was no public hearing or other opportunity for the appellant to raise objections to the project's CEQA document. The limits contained in this subsection shall not apply to documents prepared by the City. Where a City Council member or the Mayor has filed a CEQA appeal pursuant to subsection (a)(3), the limitations of subsections (h)(1) and (h)(2) shall apply to them individually as appellant, but not to the City as a whole. \_\_\_\_\_~~

\_\_\_\_\_ (h)

~~== (i) Appellant's time to file additional documentation. Any additional documents submitted by the appellant, such as including but not limited to presentations, must be filed with-transmitted to the City Clerk no later than seven (7) for inclusion in the public record by 5:00 p.m. on the calendar days day immediately prior to the date set for the appeal hearing by.~~

~~\_\_\_\_\_ City staff presentations and supporting documents offered to the City Council. Any additional documentation submitted under this subsection must also fulfill the exhaustion requirements contained in subsection (h). The appellant shall also notify the project applicant identified in the CEQA document of any additional documentation by mailing the applicant a copy of the additional documentation by certified mail no later than seven (7) calendar days prior to the date set for the hearing by the City Council. The appellant shall provide the City a copy of the certified mail receipt for consideration during the appeal hearing shall be published at the time the agenda is posted for the appeal hearing and on the CEQA City website linked to the agenda item for the appeal. Any additional documentation which fails to comply with this subsection hearing. The appellant(s) shall not be considered by the City Council. The appellants may not rely upon additional documentation submitted by a third party unless it fulfills all the requirements of subsections (h) and (i). notified of documents.~~

Appellant's may update appeal at any time to add more supporting documents or grounds and issues for the CEQA appeal until fifteen (15) days prior to the appeal hearing.

~~(i)~~ The limits contained in this subsection shall not apply to documents prepared by the City, except where a Councilmember or the Mayor has filed an appeal pursuant to subsection (a)(3), in which case the limitations of this subsection shall apply to them individually as the appellants, but not the City as a whole.

**~~(g)~~ Preemption of other appeal procedures.** The appeal procedures of this section preempt all other appeal procedures in the City's Municipal Code for the purposes of a CEQA appeal. This includes, but is not limited to, the appeal procedures contained in Title 1, Chapter 4, and Section 2-9.712 of Title 2, Chapter 9, Article 7.

~~(j)~~**(k) Concurrent appeals.** "Concurrent appeal" is defined as an appeal not based upon compliance with CEQA, but related to the same project. Such appeals may include, but are not limited to, the appeal of a Conditional Use Permit, the appeal of Planning Commission Design Review, or the appeal of other land use entitlements. Where the appellant has filed a concurrent appeal, the City Council shall consider the appeals concurrently at the same public hearing. An appeal pursuant to this section challenging a decision approving or denying a CEQA document, shall not constitute an appeal for any other actions taken by the non-elected decision-making body or the non-elected decision-maker unless:

~~(1)~~

(1) The "contents of the CEQA appeal" (described in subsection (e) of this section) specifies: (A) the other section of the Municipal Code or State law authorizing a concurrent appeal, and (B) the other action taken by the non-elected decision-making body or non-elected decision-maker which is contested by the appellant. An attachment of the concurrent appeal shall suffice; and

~~(2)~~

(2) The appellant fulfills all other non-CEQA appeal requirements of the Municipal Code or State law, including, but not limited to, payment of appeal fees for the concurrent appeal, in addition to the requirements contained in this section.

~~(f)~~

**(k) Effect of a CEQA appeal.** The filing of a CEQA appeal will stay the effect of all of the following until the City Council renders a decision on the CEQA appeal: (1) the CEQA document; (2) any project approval made pursuant to the CEQA document; (3) any notice of determination; and (4) Section 10-3.104 of Title 10, Chapter 3, Article 1. This subsection is only applicable to the party that was specifically named as the appellant in the cover sheet appeal specified in subsection (e)(2) of this section. This subsection shall not apply to any third party who has not filed their own CEQA appeal. (§ 12, Ord. 3125 c.s., eff. January 16, 2015)

(S-12, Ord. 2135 c.c., eff. January 16, 2015)